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MR. LEWIS:  Thank you, Judge. 

Mr. Finch calls Judy Tinder, please. 

THE COURT:  Ms. Tinder, if you'll stand up and raise 

4 your right hand, my courtroom deputy will swear you in. 

5 JUDY TINDER, DEFENSE WITNESS, DULY SWORN.  6 THE COURTROOM 

DEPUTY:  Please state your name and 

7 spell your last name for the record. 

8 THE WITNESS:  Judith M. Tinder, T-i-n-d-e-r. 

9 THE COURTROOM DEPUTY:  Thank you. 

10 MR. LEWIS:  May it please the Court. 

11 THE COURT:  Mr. Lewis, you may proceed. 

12 MR. LEWIS:  Thank you. 

13 DIRECT EXAMINATION  

14 BY MR. LEWIS:   

15 Q. Good morning, Ms. Tinder. 

16 A. Morning. 
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17 Q. Thank you.  I believe you drove over from Lynn Haven this 

18 morning? 

19 A. I sure did. 

20 Q. Bright and early.  Thank you for doing that. 

21 Please tell the ladies and gentlemen of the jury a little bit 

about your background. 

A. Well, I was -- I served on the Lynn Haven Commission, was 

elected in 2017, and was re-elected again in 2021, and recently 

stepped down first of February, somewhere in that time frame, 

and I'm currently running for mayor of Lynn Haven. 

Q. And we've asked you to come over, and you've agreed to do 

it; correct? 

4 A. Absolutely. 

5 Q. Thank you for doing that. 

6 By the way -- you're running.  Has Mr. Finch or anybody  7 that 

you know is associated with him contributed to your current 
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8 campaign in any way, shape, or form? 

9 A. Absolutely not. 

10 Q. Okay.  Thank you. 

11 Do you know Mr. Finch? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. How do you know him? 

14 A. He's a contractor in Lynn Haven. 

15 Q. What is his business? 

16 A. Phoenix Construction.  They do road work and buildings 

and 17 things of that nature. 

18 Q. Okay.  You indicated that you had served on the 

commission 

19 in Lynn Haven.   

20 Are you from Lynn Haven? 

21 A. I moved to Lynn Haven in 1988. 

Q. And you've lived in Lynn Haven since then? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. What kind of participation in the community since moving 

there have you undertaken, besides serving as commissioner? 

A. That's pretty much it.  I'm also co-owner of a cafe that's 

open at lunchtime if you are ever in Lynn Haven.  And serving 

as a commissioner, when you service the people, you are very 

busy 

4 all the time, whether you are at their home or on the 

telephone. 

5 Q. During the time of your service, was Antonius Barnes a  6 

member of the commission? 

7 A. Yes, he was.  I believe Mr. Barnes was a commissioner the 

8 first two years that I was there. 

9 Q. Okay. 

10 A. From '17 to '19. 

11 Q. And explain to the ladies and gentlemen a little bit about 
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12 how matters would come to the commission and, in particular, 

how 

13 matters would come to you, "matters" being construction 

14 projects, things like that. 

15 A. Well, first of all, there was always a first and second 

16 reading.  The planning person or director would come to the 

17 commission during a meeting and present the project, whether it 

18 was a road or whatever it might be.  They would present the 

19 project.  And, of course, she would recommend -- that always 

20 went before the planning board as well, and she would tell us 

21 whether or not the planning board recommended the project.  And 

then we would have the opportunity to discuss it as 

commissioners in the meeting.  And then a vote was taken after 

the second reading. 

Q. What input did you take from the public? 

A. Oh, take from the public? 

Q. If any. 
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A. Public commentary, if somebody had an objection or 

4 something like that.  But that was -- that -- objections usually 

5 come in if it's a land use issue where they want to change from 

6 residential and throw a business in there, or something like 

7 that. 

8 Q. And what input in writing would you usually get before  9 

presentations and/or votes? 

10 A. Oh, in writing we got -- we could have 100 pages of 

11 documentation; location, and the object -- or the objective of 

12 the job, the finished product, drawings, architectural; 

anything 

13 that had do with the project. 

14 Q. Was it always your purpose to -- and intent to vote 15 

whatever is in the best interests of the City of Lynn Haven? 

16 A. Absolutely. 

17 Q. That ever deviate during your time on the commission? 
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18 A. No, not by me. 

19 Q. Now, who was the city manager when you first were elected 

20 to the commission? 

21 A. When I was first elected, the city manager was Joel 

Schubert.  He, I believe, left three months, maybe two months 

after I was elected; May or June. 

Q. What was your interaction like with Mr. Schubert? 

A. I met with Mr. Schubert possibly three times, four times. 

We had a couple issues that were going on in the commission, so 

I took them to him. 

Q. What was that -- what were they about, if you know? 

4 A. They were about Rodney Friend, a current commissioner who 

5 had moved out of the city limits.  And I was getting lots of 

6 feedback from residents, and so I went in to see him to see 

7 what -- why nothing was being done and what could be done.  8 Q. 

After -- did you have any problems with Mr. Schubert?  What 
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9 did you think about that interaction overall? 

10 A. It wasn't very satisfying. 

11 Q. Okay.  After Mr. Schubert left, who replaced him? 

12 A. Michael White. 

13 Q. What -- now, what participation did you have in the hiring 

14 of Michael White? 

15 A. I voted no. 

16 Q. Did you interview him? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. How did that interview go? 

19 A. It was very unusual. 

20 Q. Why? 

21 A. Mr. White was the only candidate.  Each commissioner had to 

interview each candidate privately.  And Mr. White came in with 

a book with all kinds of things written in it.  The first thing 
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he said to me was, Do you see this lovely bracelet I have?  My 

wife gave this to me.  Had a cross on it.  And his first words 

to me were, Yes, this always reminds me that God is first, 

family is second. 

It was just unusual. 

4 Q. How did the question and answer of Mr. White go? 

5 A. When I would ask a question -- and, see, we had a set 

6 thing -- a set amount of questions, and they were all the 

same 

7 questions that we were asking all the candidates -- he 

would go 

8 through his book until he found the answer to that 

question.   

9 So at some point somebody must have given him the 

10 questions, because he had the answers written in the book. 

11 Q. Why did you ultimately vote know no when called upon 

to 
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12 recommend or decide whether to hire this gentleman or 

not? 

13 A. I voted no because I had found out that he had 

five 

14 different -- 

15 MR. GROGAN:  Objection, Your Honor.   

16 608, Your Honor. 

17 THE COURT:  Sustained. 

18 BY MR. LEWIS:   

19 Q. Did you -- without going into them, were there 

reasons, 

20 principled reasons, that you exercised to vote no? 

21 A. Yes. 

Q. Okay.  What was the vote on the commission, if you recall, 

at this time in terms of the vote to bring him on board? A. 

Michael White? 

Q. Yes. 

A. It was four to one. 
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Q. Who voted in favor? 

A. Everyone else. 

4 Q. Who was that? 

5 A. It would have been Dan Russell, Margo Anderson, 

6 Antonius Barnes, and Rodney Friend. 

7 Q. So, in that case at least, you voted -- you didn't vote the 

8 same way as Mr. Barnes? 

9 A. No. 

10 Q. You didn't vote the same way as Mayor Anderson? 

11 A. No. 

12 Q. But you were on the losing side of that vote; correct? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. How long did he serve as city manager? 

15 A. Mr. White, I believe, was fired in November or December of 

16 2018, after the hurricane. 

17 Q. So he served -- how long did -- he served the City for how 
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18 long, please? 

19 A. A year -- not even a year. 

20 Q. Okay.  And during that year, did you have interaction with 

21 Mr. White? 

A. I think twice I went to his office. 

Q. How did that go? 

A. I just let him know that I was voting no, in person. 

Q. How did he react? 

A. I'm sorry? 

Q. How did he react? 

A. He was very gracious.  He said, Thanks for letting me know. 

 4 Q. Okay.  Any other interaction with him after he became  5 

commissioner -- I'm sorry -- after he became city manager? 

 6 A. No.  I didn't -- I never went to see him.  7 Q. Okay.  

Would he make presentations before the city 

8 commission? 
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9 A. Oh, yes.  He would present issues, projects, things that he 

10 wanted to -- not that he necessarily wanted to see go through, 

11 but he would introduce proclamations and things of that nature. 

12 Q. Now, describe for the jury, briefly, Michael White's sort 13 

of staff and infrastructure. 

14 A. Well, there -- he had a contract -- contract writer -- or a 

15 grant writer, I'm going to say.  And when Joel Schubert left, 

16 the grant writer became Mr. White's kind of second right-

hand 

17 woman, if you will. 

18 Q. What was her name, please? 

19 A. Vickie Gainer. 

20 Q. Okay. 

21 A. She's the current city manager. 



     14

Direct Examination - Ms. Tinder 

 1 

 2 

 3 

 

22 

23 

24 

25 

And so she was pretty right there all the time with him. 

He put her in charge of kind of reorganizing the finance 

department, the payroll, everything. 

Q. And below -- so I guess below Michael White, below 

Vickie Gainer, was there an infrastructure, city 

infrastructure? A. Yes.  Basically, there were accounts 

payable, you know, all of that; HR that did the hiring and 

firing; payroll.  You know, 

4 just the basic things to run a city. 

5 Q. And other departments; zoning, building, things like that? 

6 A. Oh, yes.  Yes.  Building department; we had a recreation  7 

department, building department, planning.  That was a big one. 

8 Still is, yes. 

9 Q. Generally professional staff, generally hard-working staff; 

10 is that fair to say? 

11 A. Oh, yeah. 
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12 Q. Are you proud of your city employees? 

13 A. Oh, absolutely. 

14 Q. You had interaction with them? 

15 A. I have. 

16 Q. Now, did matters come before you and the commission 

17 involving Phoenix Construction? 

18 A. Oh, yes.  Uh-huh, different projects. 

19 Q. I'm sorry to interrupt.  Forgive me. 

20 A. That's okay. 

21 Q. I oftentime overtalk, and I get -- I do -- I apologize for 

that. 

So -- I'm sorry -- you were saying Phoenix Construction 

and matters that come before you. 

A. Right.  Like if Phoenix Construction had won a bid on a 

particular project, whether it was paving or whatever, that's how I 

knew them. 
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Q. And do you know where Phoenix Construction is located? 

4 A. On Highway 390 in Lynn Haven. 

5 Q. Does that make them a local vendor, if you will, or a local 

6 contractor? 

7 A. Absolutely. 

8 Q. What provisions that you're aware of that favor local  9 

contract -- or local businesses in terms of city business? 

10 A. As far as favorite, I'm not so sure that we do.  I mean, I 

11 like to think we should contact local business, but the bidding 

12 process allows anybody to bid on a job, and they don't have to 

13 be in Lynn Haven.  We have people that bid from Louisiana to 14 

Pensacola, Tallahassee. 

15 Q. Who oversees that bidding process to make sure it's fair 16 

and even? 

17 A. It all depends on whether a grant was obtained from the 
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18 engineer.  If Panhandle Engineering would get a grant, then 

many 19 times they would also be in charge of taking in the 

bids from 

20 the contractors.  And then they were scored.  Three people 

would 

21 score, and those people were -- they could work anywhere.  The 

payroll director could score the bidding sheets. 

Q. And how much supervision and oversight occurred over that 

bidding process that you were aware of? 

A. Oh, it's a big deal.  And one commissioner is allowed to be 

present when they open the bids.  And, yeah, it's very formal. Q. Why 

is that? 

A. Well, to make sure that there is nothing underhanded going 

4 on.  That's the basic reason for it. 

5 Q. Did that occur while you were serving as city commissioner? 

6 A. Oh, yes.  I mean, lots of bids were open at that time. 
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7 Q. Were there times that you participated in that exact  8 

process? 

 9 A. Actually, no.  I never watched a bid opening because 10 Mr. 

White had other commissioners that he would usually ask to 

11 be there. 

12 Q. Okay. 

13 A. You could only have one. 

14 Q. Okay.  During that process, that bidding process, do you 

15 recall receiving either bids and/or ultimately voting on 16 

Phoenix, when Phoenix won a bid and had a construction project? 

17 A. Absolutely, yes. 

18 Q. Describe for the jury whether or not that was professional 19 

or unprofessional, from your standpoint. 

20 A. Oh, very professional.  I remember one in particular, 17th 

21 Street ditch -- that's what we called it, the 17th Street 

ditch -- and Phoenix Construction was awarded that project. 
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Q. Why -- was the 17th Street ditch a problem for the 

Lynn Haven people? 

A. It was.  It was -- as a matter of fact, I was told -- and I 

don't -- this is hearsay -- that somebody almost drowned -- 

MR. GROGAN:  Objection.  Hearsay. 

THE WITNESS:  -- in that ditch. 

4 THE COURT:  Sustained.  But she certainly can explain 

5 as a commissioner why she thought it was a problem 

generally.  6 So why did you think it was a problem 

generally?  7 THE WITNESS:  Basically, it was very 

unsafe for the 

8 residents. 

9 BY MR. LEWIS:   

10 Q. How did that bidding process go and the ultimate selection 11 

that you observed yourself and saw? 
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12 A. Well, that I actually saw, it was all presented to us after 13 

the bidding and everything was done.  It was done like any other 

14 project we would do. 

15 Q. Did you see any impropriety at all? 

16 A. No. 

17 Q. Did anyone on the commission lobby you at all to vote one 18 

way or the other? 

19 A. No.  As a commissioner we are not allowed to speak to each 20 

other outside of the commission meetings. 

21 Q. But if it's in the commission meeting, one commissioner can 

urge the matter to go forward; is that right? 

A. They can vote.  They usually don't urge.  Sometimes they 

will bring in and talk about their concerns or why they are for 

a project or against it. 

Q. So to narrow the issue a little bit, did Antonius Barnes 

ever urge you to vote one way or the other? 
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A. No. 

4 Q. Did he ever attempt to influence you, either himself or 

5 through somebody else? 

6 A. Absolutely not. 

7 Q. Do the commissioners ever exchange written information 

8 among the offices, for example? 

9 A. Exchange -- it was presented to us.  And if a commissioner 10 

had received a document or something like that, they would pass 

11 it on to all the commissioners usually, yes. 

12 Q. Do you recall anything from Antonius Barnes in terms of any 

13 projects involving Phoenix -- 

14 A. No. 

15 Q. -- where he sent you anything in writing at all? 

16 A. No. 

17 Q. On his behalf did anyone come and urge you to -- that you 

18 know, urge you to vote favorably for Phoenix Construction? 
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19 A. No. 

20 Q. In any project.  Not just 17th Street ditch, but any 

21 project? 

A. No. 

Q. The vote on the 17th Street ditch, do you remember what that 

number was, ma'am? 

A. My memory is about this long (indicating), but for the most 

part -- obviously it passed because he did the project.  So it 

had to be at least three to two.  And a lot of times those kind of 

projects go through 5-0.  I mean, everybody votes for it,  4 because 

all the information and everything has already been  5 presented to 

us. 

6 Q. And how is the vote sequenced?  In other words, does the 

7 mayor vote first, or how does that work? 

8 A. Absolutely not. 

9 Like, I held seat 4.  And it depended on who made the 
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10 motion to take on any kind of project.  And then it goes in 

11 order to the left.  But the mayor always votes last 

because the 

12 mayor is the tie-breaking vote, if there is a tie. 

13 Q. Would the doc -- did the commission keep minutes? 

14 A. Oh, yes. 

15 Q. So if the jury wanted to see exactly the number of votes 

16 and/or the sequence of votes -- 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. -- they could look to the minutes and determine that; 

19 right? 

20 A. Absolutely, yes. 

21 Q. Would the minutes reflect, if it was unanimous, if all five 

commissioners were there, a five-to-zero vote? A. Yes, it 

would. 

Q. If one of the commissioners was absent, would it reflect a 
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4-0 vote? 

A. Yes, uh-huh. 

Q. And if that same commissioner was absent, would there be 

some writing on the minutes where, for example, a commissioner 

 4 would notify the rest of the commission -- let's say, for  5 

example, Commissioner Barnes is not present.  Would that also  6 

likely be reflected on the minutes? 

7 A. Yes, the minutes should always include that.  And usually 

8 the mayor at the beginning of a meeting, if some commissioner  9 

was unable to attend, she would announce that to the commission 

10 and to the public at the meeting. 

11 Q. Okay.  Prior to voting, generally would the mayor turn to 

12 the public and to the people and say, Any comments from the 13 

citizens? 

14 A. Yes.  And I hesitated because it was done differently when 

15 Mayor Anderson was mayor than it is done now.  But, yes, they 
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16 are allowed comments, negative or positive. 

17 Q. How is it different? 

18 A. Well, Mayor Anderson always had public commentary and 

19 allowed the public to speak at the end of the meeting so that 

20 they could speak about anything that was discussed during 

that 21 entire meeting. 

Now Mayor Nelson has made public commentary number three, 

which is at the very beginning of the meeting after the prayer 

and Pledge of Allegiance. 

Q. At least during the time you served on the commission, 

consistent with the rules, was the process open and lawful? A. Oh, 

absolutely.  Yes. 

Q. Did you ever see or hear anything, anything that came to  4 

your attention to say, Wait a second.  Somebody's been gotten 

5 to; anything like that? 

6 A. No, no. 
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7 Q. Do you consider yourself a fairly observant person? 

8 A. Oh, yes. 

9 Q. Did you care about process when you were a commissioner? 

10 A. Oh, yes.  I still do. 

11 Q. Was honesty and integrity important to you? 

12 A. Number one. 

13 Q. Still is? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. Now, you told the ladies and gentlemen that you know 

16 personally Mr. Finch; correct? 

17 A. Personally? 

18 Q. You've met him. 

19 A. I've met him, yes.  Yeah. 

20 Q. In what context? 

21 A. Not on a personal level, but yes. Q. In what context? 
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A. Well, he would speak before the commission when he had 

projects and we had questions for him. 

Q. And were there times that he appeared himself? 

A. Oh, yes. 

Q. And were there times that others appeared on behalf of 

Phoenix Construction? 

4 A. Yes. 

5 Q. When he appeared himself, did he present himself in a  6 

respectful way? 

7 A. Absolutely.  He was very passionate about what he does. 

8 Q. And knowledgeable? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. Did you make any conclusions about his love of Lynn Haven? 

11 A. Yes.  Matter of fact, on the very first workshop that I 

12 ever attended -- I always tell people it takes about a year to 

13 get used to things that go on in the commission and learn the 
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14 ropes and whatnot.  And the very first workshop we had, 

15 Mr. Finch had made a, I think it was, like, $37,000 donation to 

16 fireworks for Lynn Haven.  But he wanted -- it was remaining 

17 anonymous.  And I kept saying, We should never allow 

anonymous, 18 whatever.  And I got on my high horse about that. 

19 But then I learned that Mr. Finch had donated our 

fireworks 

20 in Lynn Haven every year for the last over 20 years.  

Along with 21 many other things.  He donates to a lot of 

things in Lynn Haven. Q. What other things, at least -- 

when you say that, what are you referring to? 

A. Well, like, he gives -- he donates to a group like Arc of 

the Bay.  It's an organization that trains the handicapped.  He 

donates to a lot of things like that.  He donated to our splash 

park when he created that.  As a matter of fact, I think his 

name is on that -- on that splash park down there. 

4 Q. To jump in -- not to interrupt.  Forgive me. 
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5 The splash park, do you recall that Antonius Barnes 

opposed 

6 the splash park? 

7 A. No, I couldn't -- I would never remember that. 

8 Q. Okay. 

9 A. Did he?  I'm curious now. 

10 Q. I can't tell.  The Judge wouldn't let me. 

11 A. Okay. 

12 Q. So the splash park, do you recall any other times when 

he 

13 was benevolent and generous with the city? 

14 A. There are too many for me to even remember, too many. 

15 Q. Fair enough. 

16 Did the 17th Street ditch ultimately get resolved 

17 favorably? 

18 A. Oh, yeah. 

19 Q. Built? 
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20 A. All built and done and finished, yes. 

21 Q. Tell the jurors how that went. A. How it went? 

Q. And what -- really, where we are now.  How did it turn out? 

A. Well, I think it turned out great, myself. 

The very first -- yeah.  17th Street bridge -- not the 

bridge, but the project has all turned out.  And currently 

Phoenix Construction is in charge of four-laning Highway 390 

which goes through Panama City and Lynn Haven. 

4 Q. Is that going to make a big difference? 

5 A. Oh, my gosh, yes.  It's going to make a huge difference to  6 

Lynn Haven. 

 7 Q. And you say that they are currently developing -- building  8 

that project? 

9 A. Yes.  I think that project has probably been going on, and 

10 I'm just guessing, maybe the last two or three years.  And it 11 

will go on, I was told, for another two or three. 
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12 Q. But it's -- do you know whether it was started before or 

13 after the federal government brought these charges against 

14 James Finch? 

15 A. Yeah.  That was started before that. 

16 Q. Okay.  And it's continued through? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. Despite the charges? 

19 A. Oh, yeah.  They work on it every day.  I had to fight my 20 

way through it this morning coming over here. 

21 Q. Okay.  Can you think of anybody that Phoenix Construction has 

been involved with, at least during your tenure, that you'd look 

back and say, Boy, that was a bomb? 

A. A bomb? 

Q. Yes. 

A. No. 
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Q. A bomb being -- I know there is a change of -- let me 

rephrase. 

4 A. I'm older. 

5 Q. Well, I'm horrible with questions. 

6 Anything that you can think of that turned out to be a 

7 disaster, your standpoint? 

8 A. No, nothing. 

9 Q. Were you pleased with their work? 

10 A. I'm very pleased with their work.  As a matter of fact, 

11 I've actually approached Phoenix Construction about a 

project 

12 that they worked on.  And Mr. Finch and I went to that 

project 

13 so I could get a hands-on.  He explained to me culverts and 

14 things of that nature regarding some flooding at a 

location that 

15 they built. 
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16 Q. Was it a flooding problem? 

17 A. Yes, Uh-huh. 

18 And it turned out it belonged to the City.  The problem was 19 

not his, it was ours. 

20 Q. Okay.  When that -- when that 

interaction occurred, was he 

21 helpful? A. Oh, yes. 

Q. Was he knowledgeable? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did he charge you for showing up or for his expertise? 

A. No. 

Q. During that same interaction, did he suggest to you anything 

untoward businesslike, anything improper? 

4 A. No. 

5 Q. Did he try to hint that, Hey, maybe I should do 

something, 

6 you should do something; anything like that? 
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7 A. Absolutely not. 

8 Q. Did he offer you anything? 

9 A. No. 

10 MR. LEWIS:  May I have a moment, Judge? 

11 THE COURT:  Certainly. 

12 BY MR. LEWIS:   

13 Q. One of the parks in Lynn Haven is Sheffield Park? 

14 A. Yes, uh-huh, right downtown. 

15 Q. Do you know whether or not Mr. Finch made 

substantial -- 

16 you're shaking your head. 

17 A. Yes -- 

18 Q. Why? 

19 A. -- now that you reminded me.   

20 He donated all the palm trees after Hurricane 

Michael.  We 
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21 lost every tree in the park, and Mr. Finch and 

Phoenix Construction brought in, I believe it was, 

like over 50. Q. Palm trees? 

A. Yes.  And put them in the ground, did everything. 

Q. Okay.  Lastly, the 17th Street ditch area, you've 

described, I think -- tell me if I'm wrong.  You described a 

fairly significant transformation of that area. 

A. Uh-huh. 

4 Q. Was it originally one of the depressed areas of Lynn Haven? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. Why do you say that? 

7 A. Well, it just was.  It wasn't out there on Highway 77, 

8 which is our main thoroughfare.  It was off that area. 

9 Q. Was it the lower income -- 

10 A. Yes. 

11 Q. -- part of town?  Is that fair? 
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12 A. Yes, it was. 

13 Q. And has that work transformed that entire area? 

14 A. I believe it has transformed it.  Everything in Lynn Haven 

15 has changed so much due to the hurricane, and everything is -- 

16 just about everything has been rebuilt or whatever, yes. 17 Q. 

And do you recall Michael White being fired after the 

18 hurricane? 

19 A. Oh, yes. 

20 Q. And do you know the reasons? 

21 A. Yes. 

MR. LEWIS:  No further questions, Judge. 

Thank you. 

THE COURT:  And, Mr. Lewis, just since I'm a good deal 

younger, a bomb is bad.  It's da bomb, which is good. 

Cross-examination? 

MR. GROGAN:  Yes, Your Honor.   
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Judge, may we have a brief sidebar? 

4 THE COURT:  Sure. 

5 (Following conference held at sidebar at 9:36 A.M.) 

6 MR. GROGAN:  One of the areas that we had intended to  

7 cover in cross-examination of this witness going to 

bias and 

8 credibility is that she was one of the witnesses that Mr. Finch 

9 was ordered not to have contact with under the original pretrial 

10 release condition order.  It was entered March 18, 2021, 

related 11 to city officials. 

12 THE COURT:  Well, she won't know about that order.  

So 

13 you're certainly not going to ask her about the 

order, but you 14 can ask her has she had contact 

with him. 

15 MR. GROGAN:  Well, she did have contact with him, and 
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16 then we were trying to ascertain whether instances of 

that had 

17 happened among city officials.  And she was asked by 

the city 

18 manager if she'd had contact with Mr. Finch, and she 

said 19 "None," in big capital letters, and then 

asked if the FBI was 20 asking about this, so... 

21 THE COURT:  Again, I don't -- it seems to me -- and 

I'll hear from Mr. Lewis -- you can ask certainly the witness 

if you had contact with Mr. Finch, because it would go to her 

credibility if she's had contact with him.  I just -- what you 

can't ask her is, Isn't it true you had -- I don't know how 

this witness would know whether or not he was subject to an 

order. 

How would she know that? 

MR. GROGAN:  I guess the only thing I can think, 

4 Your Honor, is, Did Mr. Finch ever tell you that he was subject 
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5 to -- was prohibited from having contact with her during this  

6 time period. 

7 THE COURT:  You can ask her if she knew he wasn't 

8 supposed to have contact with her, and then you can 

follow up 

9 with it, depending on what she says.  I mean, what 

you're not 

10 going to do is -- and I'm not suggesting you would, 

Mr. Grogan. 

11 Y'all aren't witnesses, so you're not going to 

testify.  If the 12 witness knows something, then you 

can ask the witness about it. 

13 But at some point you talking about orders and 14 stuff -- and 

do you have a good faith basis to believe she knows 

15 there's an order? 

16 MR. GROGAN:  No. 
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17 THE COURT:  Because, otherwise, it becomes you 18 

offering testimony through your question, unless you 

have a good 

19 faith basis to believe she does. 

20 MR. GROGAN:  Other than the fact that she kind of 21 

immediately denied it when it was pretty obvious she had. 

THE COURT:  Well, did you say she said, Did the FBI 

ask, or something? 

MR. GROGAN:  I'll show you the email, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  No.  I'm saying that's a fair thing: 
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Isn't it true you immediately denied it?  And did you -- and if 

she asks something about the FBI, then that's fair game if you 

have a good faith basis to believe she's inquiring of somebody 

4 trying to check.  I mean, that's all fair game. 

5 What I just meant was we are not going to wave around 

6 orders or talk about orders or have the questions if 

you have no 

7 reason to know this witness is aware of a specific 

order; okay? 

8 MR. GROGAN:  I understand. 

9 THE COURT:  Okay. 

10 MR. GROGAN:  Thank you. 

11 (Sidebar concluded at 9:39 AM.) 

12 CROSS-EXAMINATION  

13 BY MR. GROGAN:   

14 Q. Good morning, Commissioner Tinder.  Good morning. 

15 A. Hi. 
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16 Q. Now, you mentioned while Mr. Lewis was talking to you that 

17 you interviewed Michael White before he became city manager; 

is 

18 that correct? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. Can you think of a reason that city contractors would have, 

21 like Mr. Finch, to meet with a prospective city manager 

candidate before they're hired? A. Before they're hired? 

Q. Yes, ma'am. 

A. Not unless they'd done work for them. 

Q. Do you have any knowledge of Mr. White meeting with city 

contractors? 

A. No, I do not. 

4 Q. Mr. White was hired in the summer of 2017; is that right? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. And he left when he was arrested in March 2019; is that 
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7 right? 

8 A. Yes. 

9 Q. Has Mr. Finch ever given you anything of value? 

10 A. No. 

11 Q. Has he ever given you any cash? 

12 A. No. 

13 Q. All right.  I think you were talking about trees, ma'am, 14 

that Mr. Finch donated to the City.  Did he later include those 

15 in a bid for some of the property? 

16 A. No.  Those were -- he did that as a gift to the City. 

17 Q. Do you recall Mr. Finch ever trying to buy some property 18 

from the City and then kind of, as part of the compensation for 

19 it, give the City back some of the dirt on the property? 

20 A. No.  I -- there was something where -- I don't remember 
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21 well enough to even be speaking about it.  But there was 

something to do with we had some dirt that was stored that the 

City was able to use. 

Q. He was paying for the City's property by giving the City 

back some of its own dirt; is that right? 

A. I can't swear to that -- 

Q. Okay. 

A. -- because I don't remember the details well enough. 

4 Q. Okay.  Now, do you recall the -- back in -- or some time 

5 ago, around the time of Mr. Finch's arrest, the city manager  6 

asking you if you had ever -- anyone in the City had contact  7 

with Mr. Finch? 

8 A. The city manager never asked me if I'd had contact 

with 

9 him, no, not that I remember. 

10 Q. Do you mind taking a look at the overhead, ma'am? 
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11 A. Uh-huh. 

12 Q. Vickie Gainer, she's the city manager; correct? 

13 A. Right. 

14 Q. And here she's asking -- 

15 MR. LEWIS:  Objection.  Hearsay, form. 

16 THE COURT:  Well, response? 

17 MR. GROGAN:  I'll rephrase, Your Honor. 

18 THE COURT:  Okay. 

19 BY MR. GROGAN:   

20 Q. Could you take a look at that and see if that 

refreshes 21 your recollection, ma'am? 

A. It does not -- I realize what you're saying here.  I don't 

remember this exact email, no. 

Q. Okay.  The city manager asked you if you had had contact 

with Mr. Finch during a specific time frame; is that right? 

A. Yes, uh-huh. 
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Q. And you replied "None," in big capital letters; right? 

A. Right.  None, uh-huh. 

4 Q. And then you asked whether the inquiry was on 

behalf of the 

5 FBI; is that right? 

6 A. I asked if the inquiry was -- 

7 Q. Yes, ma'am. 

8 A. -- because of the FBI? 

9 Q. Yes, ma'am. 

10 Can you take a look at that and see if that refreshes 

your 

11 recollection? 

12 A. Okay. 

13 I don't believe for one minute -- hold on a second. 

14 Vickie, is this -- 

15 THE COURT:  Ma'am, read to yourself. 
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16 A. I personally do not remember even writing that 

response. 17 BY MR. GROGAN:   

18 Q. Do you know why you would be asking the city manager why 

19 the FBI -- if the inquiry was on behalf of the FBI? 

20 A. No. 

21 Q. You actually had had a significant amount of contact with 

Mr. Finch in the time frame she was asking about; right? 

A. If I wrote that I had none -- I don't remember that email. 

Q. All right.  Your telephone number, ma'am, is (850)960-2552; 

right? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. Do you see one, two, three, four, five -- six conversations 

you had with Mr. Finch during that same time frame that the 

city 

4 manager asked you about? 

5 A. Yes, I do. 
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6 Q. Do you know what you were talking to Mr. Finch about during 

7 that time frame? 

8 A. No. 

9 Q. Do you have any -- did you have any reason to believe that 

10 Mr. Finch was prohibited from having contact with you during 11 

that time frame? 

12 A. No.  I'm not even sure what time frame that you're speaking 13 

of.  But as far as -- if he was prohibited? 

14 Q. Yeah.  Do you have any reason to think that he might be? 

15 A. No.  Now, I did contact Mr. Finch a couple of times about a 

16 project that we were talking about doing and asked him -- he 

was 

17 the only one that knew the answer, and I believe at one point 

he 

18 directed me to his management, Mr. Schoppe or -- I always 

19 pronounce his name wrong. 

20 Q. And Mr. Finch regularly frequents your restaurant; is that 
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21 correct, ma'am? A. He does. 

Q. The chicken salad is very good there? 

A. Yes. 

MR. GROGAN:  Very good. 
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Redirect Examination - Ms. Tinder 

Thank you, ma'am. 

May I have one moment, Your Honor? 

THE COURT:  Certainly. 

4 MR. GROGAN:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

5 THE COURT:  Redirect? 

6 MR. LEWIS:  Briefly.  7 REDIRECT EXAMINATION  

8 BY MR. LEWIS:   

9 Q. How far between Phoenix Construction and your restaurant? 

10 A. How far? 

11 Q. Yes, distancewise. 

12 A. A couple miles. 

13 Q. Would Mr. -- do you recall whether or not -- Mr. Finch or 

14 anybody at Phoenix calling up and ordering food to go? 

15 A. Absolutely.  That happens a lot. 



    51 

 1 

 2 

 3 

 

22 

23 

24 

25 

16 Q. And what you were shown was a -- not anything -- a 17 

transcript, was it? 

18 A. No.  It just -- it appeared to be numbers of -- yeah. 

19 Q. So it shows one number called your number -- 

20 A. Right. 

21 Q. -- at the restaurant? A. Right. 

MR. LEWIS:  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.   

You may step down. 

Is this witness free to go, Mr. Lewis? 

MR. LEWIS:  Yes.  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  You are free to go. 

 4 (Ms. Tinder exited the witness stand.) 
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